RECEIVED

Aug 21 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

**CERTIORARI-PCR
APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge**

**Case № 2025- 000871
Lower Case 2021CP3203337**

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

James Curtis Cobbert, III Petitioner,

vs.

The State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 229-5010
rauchwise@gmail.com
SC Bar No. 6188**

Attorney for Petitioner

Statement of Issues on Appeal

Question I: Did the lower court err holding that the present Post Conviction Relief Petition was barred by the statute of limitations when the petition was filed within one year of the time James Cobbert learned that he had a viable double jeopardy claim under the decision of this court in *State v. Greene*, 423 S.C. 263, 814 S.E.2d 496 (2018)?

Question II: Did sentencing James Cobbert to consecutive sentences for failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death and reckless homicide when the two charges arose out of the same incident result in a violation of the double jeopardy provision of Article I, § 12 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina or the double jeopardy provision of the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States of America?

Question III: Should the prohibition against double jeopardy established by this court in *State v. Greene*, 423 S.C. 263, 814 S.E.2d 496 (2018) be applied retroactively to the cases against James Cobbert?

Statement of the Case

James Cobbert entered a guilty plea on October 16, 2008 to a charge of failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death and reckless homicide. Judge William Keesley sentenced him to 10 years on the reckless homicide charge and 25 years on the failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death. App. at 53-89.

On January 9, 2009, Mr. Cobbert filed his initial Post Conviction Relief Petition. In the initial petition, Mr. Cobbert raised the issue of double jeopardy and other issues not involved in this appeal. App. at 90-97. By order dated January 18, 2012, Judge Edward W. Miller denied relief. Mr. Cobbert filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari. App. at 147-160. A Petition for writ of certiorari was filed by Appellate Defense. The only issue raised was whether plea counsel was ineffective for failing to file an appeal. App. at 167. A *pro se* brief by Mr. Cobbert raising the issue of double jeopardy was filed on October 19, 2012. App. at 173. In the return, the State cited and relied upon *State v. Easler*, 327 S.C. 256, 468 S.E.2d 617 (1997). App. at 192. The Petition was denied on June 24, 2014. App. at 206.

On October 14, 2021, Mr. Cobbert filed his second Post Conviction Relief Petition. App. at 1-7. In this Petition, he alleged “unconstitutional statute” and “ex post facto.” On August 16, 2023, after retaining present counsel, Mr. Cobbert filed an amended Post Conviction Relief Petition alleging a violation of the double jeopardy provisions of the state and federal constitutions. App. at 8-14.

A hearing was held on the amended petition on March 22, 2024 before Judge J. Cordell Maddox. By order dated August 13, 2024, Judge Maddox denied relief on the grounds that the second Post Conviction Relief Petition was successive and that the double jeopardy provisions of

the state and federal constitutions were not violated by the successive punishments. App. at 214-232. A timely Rule 59e motion was filed on August 26, 2024. App. at 233. By order filed on April 18, 2025, the Rule 59e motion was denied. App. at 235.

Mr. Cobbert filed a notice of appeal on May 5, 2025. App. at 238. By letter dated May 7, 2025, the South Carolina Supreme Court requested a explanation for the appeal pursuant to Rule 243(c). The explanation was filed on May 23, 2025. By letter dated July 8, 2025, the South Carolina Supreme Court permitted the appeal to continue.

Standard of Review

As all the issues involved in this Petition for Writ of Certiorari are legal issues, the standard of review is *de novo*. “We review questions of law *de novo*, *181 with no deference to trial courts.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180–81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018).

Argument

Question I

Did the lower court err holding that the present Post Convict Relief Petition was barred by the statute of limitations when the petition was filed within one year of the time James Cobbert learned that he had a viable double jeopardy claim under the decision of this court in *State v. Greene*, 423 S.C. 263, 814 S.E.2d 496 (2018)?

This alleged successive Post Conviction Relief Petition as amended and filed on August 16, 2023 alleged in paragraph 11(a):

My original Post Conviction Relief Petition was denied based upon *State v. Easler*, 327 S.C. 121, 489 S.E.2d 617 (1997). On or about February 20, 2023, I learned that *Easler* had been overturned in *State v. Greene*, 423 S.C. 263, 814 S.E.2d 496 (2018). This case represented a change in the law as to the issue of double jeopardy.
App. at 10.

The lower court also erred in holding that Mr. Cobbert is barred by the one-year statute of limitations claiming Mr. Cobbert was required to file by May 23, 2019. Mr. Cobbert, as an incarcerated inmate, should not be penalized by his failure to have access to new developments in the law. Mr. Cobbert filed this PCR within one year of the time he learned of the *Greene* case. As an incarcerated inmate, Mr. Cobbert should not be held to a higher standard than the bench and bar in keeping current as to the developments in the law. This court and the court of appeals have been confronted with several cases where defense counsel and the trial judge were not aware of the decision in *Belcher*.

Mr. Cobbert contends this Post Conviction Relief application should come under South Carolina Code § 17-27-45(C) as the learning of a decision that as a matter of law impacts his sentencing should be considered a fact he learned. Also, under South Carolina Code § 17-27-90

this court, and the lower court, has the right to find not filing within one year of the *Greene* decision should be recognized as not reasonable for an inmate. This is especially true as the double jeopardy issue will impact the actual amount of time Mr. Cobbert will serve. This is not a change in the law that will simply give Mr. Cobbert a new trial. The State should have no interest in keeping Mr. Cobbert in prison longer that they are legally entitled to keep him there.

If this court finds that the action is time barred by the one-year statute of limitations, this court should then treat this Petition for Writ of Certiorari as a Petition under *Butler v. State*, 302 S.C. 466, 397 S.E.2d 87 (1990). In *Butler*, this Court said, “Here, petitioner seeks to take advantage of constitutional principles recognized after his trial, appeal, and exhaustion of state post-conviction relief proceedings. We caution that not every intervening decision, nor every constitutional error at trial will justify issuance of the writ. Rather, the writ will issue only under circumstances where there has been a ‘violation, which, in the setting, constitutes a denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice.’” *Id.* at 468, 397 S.E.2d at 88.

(Internal citations omitted)/

As in *Butler*, a change in the law has resulted in the consecutive sentences of Mr. Cobbert being unconstitutional. Mr. Cobbert, being an incarcerated inmate, would have not had the ability to know of the change in the law. When the state is seeking to keep an inmate incarcerated for longer than the law now allows, it is a “denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice.” The State of South Carolina should have no interest in keeping an individual incarcerated for longer than the law allows. Thus, treating this case as a *Butler* petition would be consistent with the *Butler* opinion.

Question II

Did sentencing James Cobbert to consecutive sentences for failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death and reckless homicide when the two charges arose out of the same incident result in a violation of the double jeopardy provision of Article I, § 12 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina or the double jeopardy provision of the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States of America?

This court has said, “It is because of this rule—one homicide, one homicide punishment—that even were we to accept the State's argument that the involuntary manslaughter guilty verdict should stand, an additional sentence for Alexis's death could not stand.” *State v. Greene*, 423 S.C. 263, 283, 814 S.E.2d 496, 507 (2018). Here there is also one homicide and therefore only one homicide punishment. The only difference from *Greene* is that Mr. Cobbert received a consecutive sentence rather than a concurrent. The legal principle established in *Greene* as to successive punishment still applies.

Under the facts of this case, the reckless driving was the fleeing at a high speed from the police. The violation of South Carolina Code § 56-5-750, failure to stop motor vehicle when signaled by law-enforcement vehicle. resulting in death, was the same act of speeding while fleeing from the police. As the Indiana court has said, “There was here but one homicide, and that was the gravamen of the offense. It matters no more that Carter was both intoxicated and driving recklessly in causing his passenger’s death than it would have had Carter poisoned him, stabbed him and thrown him from a high bridge. The means of committing an offense may not be utilized to multiply the number of offenses committed. Only one homicide was committed and only one sentence may be imposed.” *Carter v. State*, 424 N.E.2d 1047, 1048 (Ind. Ct. App.

1981). The consecutive sentences violated double jeopardy.

No language in either reckless homicide statute or the failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death indicates the legislature intended for there to be consecutive punishments. “Even though all of the elements of Section 66–8–101 do not necessarily coincide, then, we think the statutory language and structure lead to the conclusion that the New Mexico legislature did not intend multiple punishments for one death.” *State v. Landgraf*, 121 N.M. 445, 454, 913 P.2d 252, 261 (1996).

An important aspect of this appeal is what this case is not about. The case is not about a single act causing injuries to multiple individuals. This case is the single issue of does the double jeopardy provision of the state and federal constitutions prohibit a defendant from being punished twice for the same act that caused only one death.

In determining if the two different charges involve the same act, the Illinois court has listed six factors to be consider as to whether the two charges involved the same act. The factors are “(1) whether the defendant's actions were interposed by an intervening event; (2) the time interval between the successive parts of the defendant's conduct; (3) the identity of the victim; (4) the similarity of the acts performed; (5) whether the conduct occurred in the same location; and (6) the prosecutorial intent, as shown by the wording of the charging instruments.” *People v. Sienkiewicz*, 208 Ill. 2d 1, 7, 802 N.E.2d 767, 772 (2003). Applying these factors to this case, the two charges arise from the same act. The reckless homicide indictment alleges Mr. Cobbert did “drive a motor vehicle in reckless disregard of the safety of others” App. at 162. The failure to stop for the blue light resulting in death indictment, after alleging the failure to stop,

alleged “when driving he did perform an act forbidden by law or neglected a duty imposed by law in the driving of the vehicle that resulted to [sic] the death of Michael A. Wilson.” App. at _164. Thus, the failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death indictment alleges an act that would constitute reckless driving. The State has not contended nor established an intervening time between the two indictments.¹

South Carolina Code § 17-25-50 provides, “In determining the number of offenses for the purpose of imposition of sentence, the court shall treat as one offense any number of offenses which have been committed at times so closely connected in point of time that they may be considered as one offense, notwithstanding under the law they constitute separate and distinct offenses.” The language of this statute would suggest that the legislature did not intend successive punishments for the two statutes involved in this case. The law is clear that without a clear intent by the legislature to impose successive punishments for similar conduct that may violate two or more laws, successive punishments are prohibited.

The United States Supreme Court has held, “Accordingly, where two statutory provisions proscribe the ‘same offense,’ they are construed not to authorize cumulative punishments in the absence of a clear indication of contrary legislative intent.” *Whalen v. United States*, 445 U.S. 684, 692, (1980). In this case no clear legislative intent exists to support a claim for successive punishments

In affirming the lower appellate court, the Illinois Supreme Court said, “The appellate court agreed with defendant, reasoning, in part, that defendant’s reckless conduct could not be

¹ Even if one could argue that somehow a driver can fail to stop for a blue light and not drive recklessly, the indictment in this case alleges an act or acts that would constitute reckless driving.

separated into discrete physical acts because no intervening event divided the conduct into two acts.” *Sienkiewicz* at 7, 802 N.E.2d at 771. The United States Supreme Court is in agreement. As they held, “The Double Jeopardy Clause is not such a fragile guarantee that prosecutors can avoid its limitations by the simple expedient of dividing a single crime into a series of temporal or spatial units.” *Brown v. Ohio*, 432 U.S.161, 169 (1977). The same principle applies here. One continuous act caused the death in this case. James Cobbert is entitled to have this case remanded for a new sentencing.

Question III

Should the prohibition against double jeopardy established by this court in *State v. Greene*, 423 S.C. 263, 814 S.E.2d 496 (2018) be applied retroactively to the cases against James Cobbert?

In ruling against Mr. Cobbert, the court below incorrectly found that the *Greene* decision is not to be applied retroactively. App. at 231. The lower court incorrectly ruled that the *Greene* decision was a new decision. The lower Court failed to recognize that in *Robinson v. Neil*, 409 U.S. 505 (1973) the United States Supreme Court recognized that the opinion in *Benton v. Maryland*, 395 U.S. 784 (1969) is to be given full retroactive effect as to double jeopardy. This court is bound by that decision.

In *Robinson*, the court said, “The guarantee against double jeopardy is significantly different from procedural guarantees held in the *Linkletter* line of cases to have prospective effect only. While this guarantee, like the others, is a constitutional right of the criminal defendant, its practical result is to prevent a trial from taking place at all, rather than to prescribe procedural rules that govern the conduct of a trial.” *Id.* at 509. The same reasoning applies to this case. As

previously noted, the sentence imposed upon Mr. Cobbert is no longer possible in South Carolina. When a ruling impact the length of sentence a person can legally serve, the ruling should have retroactive application.

Under the decision of the United States Supreme Court in *Robinson*, the *Greene* decision by this court should be given full retroactive effect. In *Robinson* the United States Supreme Court gave full retroactive application to *Benton* which first held the Double Jeopardy applies to the States. This Court is obligated to give full retroactive effect to *Greene*.

The United States Supreme Court has said in making a retroactivity determination, “We believe it desirable to combine the accuracy element of the *Desist* version of the second exception with the *Mackey* requirement that the procedure at issue must implicate the fundamental fairness of the trial.” *Teague v. Lane*, 489 U.S. 288, 312 (1989). In this case, Mr. Cobbert has received a sentence that is no longer legally possible after the decision in *Greene*. This clearly implicates “the fundamental fairness of the trial.”