RECEIVED

Jan 21 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas
Appeal from Richland County
Hon. J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000871

James C. Cobbert, III, 293798,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 105228

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
803-734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner's post-conviction relief application was procedurally barred by the statute of limitations, where Petitioner's double jeopardy rights are not implicated, and Petitioner is not subject to relief provided by this Court in State v. Greene, nor should this Court consider Petitioner's claims under Butler.**

On appeal, Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief court erred in finding his post-conviction relief application was procedurally barred by the statute of limitations. Specifically, Petitioner contends that he filed within the one-year period after learning of the holding in State v. Greene,⁴ which provided him with a viable avenue for relief because his sentence violates his double jeopardy rights. Additionally, Petitioner asserts that should this Court find he was procedurally barred by the statute of limitations, then this Court should consider this matter as a petition under Butler v. State, 302 S.C. 466, 397 S.E.2d 87 (1990). However, as the post-conviction relief court properly found, Petitioner was subject to the one-year statute of limitations, as he did not allege any ground entitling him to equitable tolling, because he failed to show that his double jeopardy rights were implicated by Greene, even if Greene was meant to be applied retroactively. Furthermore, this Court should not consider this petition pursuant to Butler, where Petitioner has not set forth a constitutional violation that "constitutes a denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice." Butler, 302 S.C. at 468, 397 S.E.2d at 88. This Court should deny certiorari.

As an initial matter, Petitioner requests that if this Court finds his post-conviction relief application was barred by the statute of limitations, that this Court then consider the petition pursuant to Butler. In doing so, this Court must find Petitioner has set forth a constitutional

⁴ State v. Greene, 423 S.C. 263, 814 S.E.2d 496 (2018) (partially overruling State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 489 S.E.2d 617 (1997)).

violation that "constitutes a denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice." Butler, 302 S.C. at 468, 397 S.E.2d at 88. Petitioner has not met that burden. Petitioner's pleaded allegations center around a misunderstanding of the law on double jeopardy and their repeated attempts to relitigate their claims of a double jeopardy violation. The record before this Court shows that Petitioner has presented versions similar to those he now presents, beginning with his first post-conviction relief action in 2009. Also, the Greene decision was not a fundamental constitutional shift but rather a clarification of existing double jeopardy principles and the legislative intent of the statutes before the Greene Court. Notably, those statutes are not present in this case. Respondent maintains Petitioner has failed to present any viable claim that violates due process or a constitutional violation that "constitutes a denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice." Butler, 302 S.C. at 468, 397 S.E.2d at 88.

Accordingly, because this case does not present a constitutional violation that "constitutes a denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice compelling circumstance," this Court should not entertain Petitioner's request.

Additionally, this Court decided Greene in 2018, and Petitioner did not file his post-conviction relief application until 2023. Petitioner now argues that S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(C) should be relaxed and that an inmate should not be held to the one-year statute of limitations, likening the statute's requirement to a punishment on inmates. Even more curiously, Petitioner asserts that he "should not be held to a higher standard than the bench and bar in keeping current as to the developments in the law[,]" and provides State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 385 S.E.2d 802 (2009) as support for this assertion. However, the statute of limitations for post-conviction relief applications is not tolled merely because Petitioner becomes aware of a new legal decision. Knowledge of a legal decision does not constitute a newly discovered fact under S.C. Code Ann.

§ 17-27-45(C), which refers to factual discoveries, not changes in legal interpretation. Furthermore, Petitioner's most recent post-conviction relief action is clearly successive, as he raised the double jeopardy issue in his first post-conviction relief action, which was denied in 2012.

Nevertheless, as will be further discussed *infra*, the post-conviction relief court correctly found Petitioner's application was procedurally barred by the statute of limitations, and even if it was not, Petitioner's double jeopardy rights were not implicated by the Greene decision, and Petitioner failed to show that Greene was intended to be applied retroactively.

II. The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner's double jeopardy rights are not implicated, and Petitioner is not subject to relief provided by this Court in State v. Greene, where Easler was the controlling law at the time of Petitioner's sentencing, and this Court should not apply Greene retroactively.

Petitioner asserts that his right against multiple punishments arising from the same offense under the double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment was violated because "the reckless driving was the fleeing at a high speed from the police" and "failure to stop motor vehicle when signaled by law-enforcement vehicle, resulting in death, was the same act of speeding while fleeing from the police." Petitioner also asserts that the decision in Greene supports his assertion that his double jeopardy rights were violated, and that Greene should be applied retroactively. However, Petitioner's contention misconstrues S.C. Code Ann. §§ 56-5-750 and 56-5-1790 and fails as a matter of law where State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 489 S.E.2d 617 (1997) was controlling law at the time of Petitioner's sentencing and not Greene. Furthermore, Petitioner presented nothing to the post-conviction relief court indicating that this Court intended Greene to be applied retroactively. Accordingly, this Court should deny certiorari.

The "Double Jeopardy Clause protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal or conviction, and protects against multiple punishments for the same offense."

State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 538, 713 S.E.2d 591, 597 (2011) (quoting Stevenson v. State, 335 S.C. 193, 198, 516 S.E.2d 434, 436 (1999)). In Blockburger v. United States, the United States Supreme Court clarified "[t]he applicable rule is that, where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision requires proof of a fact which the other does not." 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932). In other words, "*a single act may be an offense against two statutes*; and if each statute requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not, an acquittal or conviction under either statute does not exempt the defendant from prosecution and punishment under the other." Id. (emphasis added); accord State v. Moyd, 321 S.C. 256, 258, 468 S.E.2d 7, 9 (Ct. App. 1996) ("A defendant may be severally indicted and punished for separate offenses without being placed in double jeopardy *where a single act consists of two 'distinct' offenses.*") (emphasis added).

As an initial matter, Petitioner's constitutional claim that his convictions and sentences violated the double jeopardy clause of the federal constitution was already decided in his first post-conviction relief action in the order of the Honorable Edward W. Miller. In that order, Judge Miller found the following:

[Petitioner] asserts that plea counsel was ineffective for failing to object to [Petitioner's] sentence because [Petitioner's] plea to Reckless Homicide and Failure to Stop for a Blue Light resulted in Double Jeopardy. This Court finds that this allegation is without merit. Counsel testified that in her review of [Petitioner's] indictments and the elements of offenses [Petitioner] was charged with that counsel did not find any double jeopardy issues. Counsel testified that a double jeopardy argument in [Petitioner's] case may have been viable in the 1980's but that under the current test, which is the Blockburger test, the offenses were clearly separate. Counsel testified that [Petitioner] was not sentenced for the same offense twice. This Court agrees with plea counsel. The Double Jeopardy Clauses of the United States and South Carolina Constitutions protect against multiple punishments for the same offense. State v. Nelson, 336 S.C. 186, 519 S.E.2d 786 (1999). In both multiple punishment and successive prosecution cases, double jeopardy claims are evaluated under the "same elements" test set forth in Blockburger v. United States,

284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932). Stevenson v. State, 335 S.C. 193, 516 S.E.2d 434 (1999). A defendant may be severally indicted and punished for separate offenses without being placed in double jeopardy where a single act consists of two "distinct" offenses. State v. Moyd, 321 S.C. 256, 468 S.E.2d 7 (Ct. App. 1996). This Court has reviewed the entire record and does not find that [Petitioner's] plea to the charges placed [Petitioner] in double jeopardy. This Court finds [Petitioner] has failed to show plea counsel's performance was deficient or any resulting prejudice; therefore counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to [Petitioner's] sentence based on double jeopardy. This Court finds that this allegation is denied and dismissed.

(App'x pp. 156–157).

In further support of the first post-conviction relief court's order, in Petitioner's 2014 federal habeas action, United States District Judge Timothy M. McCain found the following on Petitioner's claim that his convictions and sentences violated the double jeopardy clause of the federal constitution:

Here, Petitioner pled guilty to reckless homicide and failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death. In South Carolina, "[w]hen the death of a person ensues within three years as a proximate result of injury received by the driving of a vehicle in reckless disregard of the safety of others, the person operating the vehicle is guilty of reckless homicide . . ." S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2910(A). Reckless homicide requires -proof that the defendant (1) operated an automobile; (2) in reckless disregard for the safety of others; (3) the defendant's conduct proximately caused injury to the victim; and (4) within three years, the victim died as a result of these injuries. State v. Horton, 598 S.E.2d 279 (S.C. 2004) (citing State v. Watson, 563 S.E.2d 336 (S.C. 2002)).

The offense of failure to stop a motor vehicle when signaled by law enforcement vehicle is codified in S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-750. This section provides

(A) In the absence of mitigating circumstances, it is unlawful for a motor vehicle driver, while driving on a road, street, or highway of the State, to fail to stop when signaled by a law enforcement vehicle by means of a siren or flashing light. An attempt to increase the speed of a vehicle or in other manner avoid the pursuing law enforcement vehicle when signaled by a siren or flashing light is prima facie evidence of a violation of this section. Failure to see the flashing light or hear the siren does not excuse a failure to stop when the distance between the vehicles and other road conditions are such that it would be reasonable for a driver to hear or see the signals from the law enforcement vehicle.

...

(C) A person who violates the provisions of subsection (A) and when driving performs an act forbidden by law or neglects a duty imposed by law in the driving of the vehicle:

(1) where great bodily injury resulted, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for not more than ten years; or

(2) where death resulted, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for not more than twenty-five years.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-750.

Failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death requires proof of the following elements: (1) that the defendant was driving a motor vehicle; (2) that he was driving it on a road, street, or highway of the State; (3) that he was signaled to stop by a law enforcement vehicle by means of a siren or flashing light; and (4) that he did not stop. See United States v. James, 337 F.3d 387 (4th Cir. 2003) (citing State v. Hoffman, 186 S.E.2d 421 (S.C. 1972)). Petitioner argues that a person cannot commit the offense of failure to stop for a blue light without operating his vehicle in a reckless manner. (Objections at 20). Further, he argues that to act recklessly, one must be aware of his conduct and consciously disregard a risk. Id. However, the failure to stop for a blue light statute is a strict liability statute and *it* "explicitly criminalizes a broad swath of unintentional conduct." United States v. Rivers, 595 F.3d 558, 565 (4th Cir. 2010). And as Petitioner recognizes, reckless homicide requires a conscious disregard of a risk. As the magistrate judge found, these two offenses are distinct and clearly require the establishment of different elements.

(App'x pp. 211–212).

However, Petitioner now contends that because "the reckless driving was the fleeing at a high speed from the police" and "failure to stop motor vehicle when signaled by law-enforcement vehicle, resulting in death, was the same act of speeding while fleeing from the police" that his double jeopardy rights were violated. As both the first and second post-conviction relief courts and the federal court found, reckless homicide and failure to stop for a blue light – death results are two distinct charges, and Petitioner's convictions and sentences do not violate the double jeopardy clause. Petitioner's contention fails as a matter of law because each crime to which Petitioner pled guilty has a unique element of proof required to secure a conviction. Simply put, the South Carolina Legislature clearly intended to authorize multiple punishments for reckless

homicide and failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death, as evidenced by the distinct statutory schemes, disparate penalty structures, and separate legislative purposes served by each offense.

Turning to Petitioner's assertion that he should be afforded relief based on this Court's decision in State v. Greene. Greene was a 2018 decision by this Court, establishing the "one homicide, one homicide punishment" rule in our State. The defendant in Greene appealed her convictions for both homicide by child abuse and involuntary manslaughter, arguing that she could not stand convicted of both charges. 423 S.C. at 279, 814 SE.2d at 505. This Court agreed, holding:

While the South Carolina legislature has manifestly authorized multiple homicide charges for a single homicide, we find no expression of legislative intent authorizing multiple homicide punishments for a single homicide committed by a single defendant. As a result, absent legislative intent to the contrary, we follow the prevailing rule—one homicide is limited to one homicide punishment per defendant.

423 S.C. at 280, 814 SE.2d at 505.

Moreover, the Court in Greene held that it was not enough simply to sentence a defendant on only one redundant homicide conviction while allowing the remaining convictions to stand without any additional sentence because "the conviction itself is considered a punishment and that, too, must be vacated." 423 S.C. at 284, 814 S.E.2d at 507 (citing Ball v. United States, 470 U.S. 856, 864–65 (1985) (discussed *infra*)). As a component of its holding, the Court in Greene also provided:

The situation here should be contrasted with a homicide that would properly fall within multiple homicide statutes. In that situation, a jury may properly return a guilty verdict on more than one homicide charge. In State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 489 S.E.2d 617 (1997), this Court affirmed convictions and sentences for two homicide charges—felony driving under the influence causing death and reckless homicide—arising out of a motor vehicle accident that killed one person and seriously injured another. The evidence and theory of criminal liability satisfied the elements of both homicide statutes. Easler, however, went further and affirmed multiple punishments for the single homicide committed by one defendant, and this

was error. We overrule Easler to the extent it authorizes multiple homicide punishments involving only one homicide. . . .

423 S.C. at 283, 814 S.E.2d at 507. This guidance is useful not only for the rule of "one homicide, one homicide punishment," but also for the remedy: vacating a redundant homicide conviction as part of imposing that punishment. See id.; cf. State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976) ("A trial judge generally has wide discretion in determining what sentence to impose.").

In deciding State v. Greene, the Court relied on and quoted from the United States Supreme Court's decision in Ball, *supra*. The essential question for the United States Supreme Court in Ball was whether, when a felon received and possessed a single firearm, they could be convicted and punished for two separate federal crimes for that one action: "under 18 U.S.C. § 922(h)(1), for receiving that firearm, and under 18 U.S.C.App. § 1202(a)(1) for possessing the same weapon." 470 U.S. at 857. The Court in Ball held that while a person could be charged, tried, and found guilty by the jury of both statutes, only one conviction could stand. 470 U.S. at 864-65. Accordingly, the Supreme Court in Ball remanded the case not for a new trial but for the District Court to "exercise its discretion to vacate one of the convictions." 470 U.S. at 865; cf. Greene, 423 S.C. at 284, 814 S.E.2d at 507 (2018) (holding that a redundant homicide "conviction . . . is considered a punishment and . . . must be vacated.").

Here, at the time Petitioner was convicted and sentenced, the trial court's sentencing was precisely in accordance with South Carolina law, as controlled by State v. Easler, *supra*. In Easler, this Court declined to extend broader protections under the South Carolina Constitution than those afforded under the federal Constitution. This Court concluded in Easler that the Blockburger test was the only test and analysis to be applied to double jeopardy questions. 327 S.C. at 132, 489 S.E.2d at 623. The controlling law under Easler held that where a defendant was convicted and

sentenced for both felony DUI-death results and reckless homicide, there was no double jeopardy since the elements of the crimes were different. Easler, 327 S.C. at 133, 489 S.E.2d at 624.

As noted *supra*, Petitioner's contention fails as a matter of law because each crime to which Petitioner pled guilty has a unique element of proof required to secure a conviction. Under Blockburger, Petitioner's convictions and sentences were in accordance with state and federal law. See Blockburger, 284 U.S. 299 (successive prosecutions do not violate the Double Jeopardy Clause if each offense contains an element not contained in the other).

Lastly, turning to whether Greene should be applied retroactively to Petitioner's case. Justice O'Connor's plurality opinion in Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288 (1989), "set forth a framework for retroactivity in cases" on collateral review. Montgomery v. Louisiana, 577 U.S. 190, 198 (2016); accord Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 539–40, 765 S.E.2d 572, 575 (2014) ("Under our current jurisprudence, the United States Supreme Court's decision in Teague . . . governs whether a new rule of criminal procedure is retroactive."). "Under Teague, a *new* constitutional rule of criminal procedure does not apply, as a general matter, to convictions that were final when the new rule was announced." Montgomery, 577 U.S. at 198; see also Chaidez v. U.S., 568 U.S. 342, 347 (2013) ("When we announce a 'new rule,' a person whose conviction is already final may not benefit from the decision in a habeas or similar proceeding."). The Teague Court found that new constitutional rules of criminal procedure should generally not be applied retroactively, with only two limited exceptions: 1) if the new law places certain kinds of primary, private individual conduct beyond the power of the criminal law-making authority to proscribe," and 2) if it requires observance that "those procedures that . . . are 'implicit in the concept of ordered liberty.'" Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 307 (1989) (citing Mackey v. United States, 401 U.S. 667, 692 (1971)). Petitioner's matter satisfies neither exception here.

This Court has ruled similarly that retroactive application of new precedent is only extended to cases still pending on direct appeal or not yet final, but does not extend to matters challenged on post-conviction relief. See State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 613, 685 S.E.2d 802, 811 (2009) (retroactive application of new precedent does not extend to matters challenged on post-conviction relief) overruled on other grounds by State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019); see generally Teague, *supra*; see also McDougall v. Dixon, 921 F.3d 518, 539 (4th Cir. 1990) (Not applying new rule retroactively on habeas review where new rule involved in validating sentencing regarding mitigating circumstances).

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